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PREFACE,

Kittery, at the eommencement of the war for Independence, was
composed of the present towns of Kittery and Eliot, and this record
takes in the soldiers and sailors of both towns; but Eliot’s soldiers
are nol mentioned as such in their individual records, bal one can
tell by the parish or militia company rexidence of the mon; in which
town as now constituted he lived ; whenever the word *° town™ oeenrs
in the following pages, it refers to aod means the old town of
Kittery as it was in 1775,

The town at that time was divided into three parishes, viz., first,
or lower ; second, or upper ; and third, or middle. The first parish
wns thal part of the town south of a line, commencing at Ports-
moath Ferry, near the old Rice House, and ronning north fifty-four
degrees cast, to the town of York. The second parish was the
present town of Eliot, and the third parish comprised that part of
the town hetween the other two parishes.

In 1774, the town had fonr companies of militis, all belonging
to the First Regiment of Infantry of York County, commanded by
Col. Edward Cufts, a rvesident of the town, but in 1776, the militia
was roorgavized, and the four companies increased to six, all
belenging to the Second Regiment of York County, and eommanded
by Col. Joha Frost, a resident of the town, also an oflicer in the last
French war, The second major was John Shapleigh of the town,
and the adjutapt was Lieut. Andrew 1*. Fernald, also a resident.

The above officers all served with the Continental Army at
various times (during the war, as did oearly all the company ollicers.

The officers and loeation of the six town companies were s
follows: the First Company’s were Capt. Elisha Bhapleizh, Firat
Lieut. James Shopleizh, Second Lieut. Thomas Hammond, and
comprised that part of the second parish between Sturgeon Creek,
the residenee of Miss Farmer, the river, snd the town of York.

The Sceonil Company’s were Capl. William Holbrool, Firat
Lieut. Williwm Deerving, Jr., and Second Lieot. Daniel Billings, aod
the bounids were that part of the first parlsh east of Spruce Creek.
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The Third Company's weve Capt. Richard Rogers, Firat Lieut,
William Haley, Second Lieut. John Godsce, and comprised those
parts of both the first and thied parishes, west of Spruce Creek.

The Fourth Company’s were Capt. Spmuel Leighton, First
Lient. William Raitt, and Second Lieut. Charles Frost, and com-
prised all of the second parish, north of the First Company boands.

The Fifth Company’s wers Capt. Bamuel Weeks, First Lieut.
William Lewis, and Second Lisut. Nicholss Weeks, and comprised
all of the third parish, east of Spruce Creek.

The Sixth Company's were Capf. Parker Foster, Firat Lient.
Willism Spinney, and Second Lieunt, Timothy Spinney, and comprised
that part of the second parish, south of the First Company bounds.

By referring to the above parish and company bounds, the reader
can tell where tho soldiers lived, ete. Popalation of town in 1776, in
First FParish, 928; in Second Parish, 1457 ; in Third Parish, 656.
Total, 5086. Male residents of the town, over sixteen years old, 618
white, 22 Quakers, and 19 negroes, indiaps, and mixed. Total males
over sixteen years old, 659.

The town on Dec. 18, 1774, chose the following Committes of
Inspection, Correspondence and Safety, Capt. Jobhn H. Darilett,
Willinm Leighton, Nathaniel Remiclk, Dea. Jonathan Hammond,
Moses Hanscom, William Stacy, Capt. Jobhn Frost, William Cottle,
William Remick, Robert Morrell, Ezekiel Allen, Samusl Weeks,
John Rogers, Dr. Daniel Pierce, Edmund Hammond, Samuel Rice,
John Dennett, Jr., William Lewis, Benjamin Fernald, Charles
Chauncy, Esq., Elibu Guonison, Dea, Joseph Gunnison, Joseph
Billings, Joshua Staples, and Williars Holbrook, They were farmers,
merchanis, shipbuilders, and professional men, also active and retired
oflicers of the militia, but were men of mature age; this committee
had a great deal to do in the following vears, in looking after the
military interests of the town.

The militia of the town, as such, was not ordered opon any
duoty- with the Continental armies or by themselves, and although
historians and writera of the Revolution speak about the militia of
the colonies as being on duty at varions fimes, the writer has been
unable to find bot few instances of the State Militiz being ordered on
dnty as snch : what were ealled militia were properly State troops;
they were enlisted and deafted for a certain duty or time from the
mifitia, officers and men.

That is, regiments would be formed of companies from several
counties. Companies from men of several different militia regiments,
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so that the troops when erganized for field service would be State
troops, differing only from the Continental or Regular Troops in time
of service,

These State regiments were always eslled by the pame of their
colopels, The Continental regiments were often called by the name
of thelr colonels also; bat they had a nomber or State name, and
this number i3 used by the writer, becanse some of the Continental
regiments, had several colonels doring the war, and thus would
confuse the resder.

An ahstract of each Continental and State organization services
in which men from the town served during the war, will save repetition
in the individual records, and is here given for refercnce.

Four days after the battles of Lexington and Concord, Massa-
chusetts issed a call for voluntears, and Kittery nobly responded by
raiging two companies, commanded by Captains Tobias Fernald and
Samuel Leighton, both residents of the town; the men enlisted to
serve until Jan. 1, 1776, and both companies were mostered into
the Thirtieth Regiment of Infantry of the Unlted Colonles; com-
manded by Col. James Scammon, During itz time of serviee the
regiment marched to Cambridge, in May, 1775, and had Dbeen in
camp abont fonr weeks when the Baitle of Bunker Hill wans fought,
in which it took part; after the batile it was stationed at Cambridge,
and manned Fort No. 1, and the redoubt vear it, and was in Gen.
William Heath's brigade, of Gen. Isrnel Putnam’s division, forming
the centre of the American army, nnder General Washington, sur-
ronnding the British army in Boston, and so the regiment remained
until Dec. 81, 1775, when 1t was mustered out of serviee.®

June 5§, 1775, the town voled to have o wateh of twenty men on
duty every night until forther orders, and s many men by day as
the commanding officers of the militia eompanies thought proper.

Capt. John Shapleigh's company of Coast Goards were anthor-
ized by the Massachusetts Legislature, June 28, 1775, and were
enlisted to serve until Dee. 31,1775 ; they were stationed in the town
and performed the daty of preventiog parties from the British men-
of-war landing and looting the town; fhey also helped construct
Fort MeClary and Sollivan ; and guarded against any surprise from
the encmy by way of the sea; this company was onder the directions
of the field officers of the Firat York County Regiment of Blilitia,
and the men were mostly reaidents of the town.

* For o more detailed acoount of Lbhe servloge of this regiment the reader o referred o
Mathan Geold's Histery of the Weghnent.



4

There appeara to have baen no fort or fortifiestion in the town at
the commencement of the war, exeept Fort William, an earthworlk,
now called Fort MeClary,  Fort Sollivan, oo Fevnald's Island, in the
river, now a part of ihe United States Navy Yard, was bailt in this
year, and garrisoned by the State of New Hampshive, but the nien
were about all residents of Iittery. Fort Willlam, now Fort
MecClary, appears to have been vepaired and reconstructed also this
vear by the Committee of Safety, but probably bhad no permanent
zarrison during the war; it had two 12-pound cannon mounted
there by June 10, 1776, also some Y-peunders.

There were also men from the town in the forts on the New
Hampshire side of the river, Washington and Hancock,

Capt. K. Folleti’s Artillery Company at Kittery Point in
November, 1775, was probably a velonteer association, as no doubt
were also Capt. Wm. Deering's company of carpenters, and Capt.
Samuel Stacy's company of militia.

The British war ships ** Searbore,” Captain Darclay, and
# Cancean,” Captain Mowalt, lay off the town during the summer of
1775, and doubdtless thelr crews had several skirmishes with the
ahove named local companies,

The State of New Hampshire employed some vessels in the
river this year as a State navy, and some men from the town were
on them.

The Eighteenth Centinental Regiment of Infantry, Col. Edmand
Phinney, in which were about all the men from the town in the
vegolar army in 1776, was ralsed in the latter part of 1775 to serve
for one yvear from Jan, 1, 17706 ; the regiment in Janoary, 1776, wos in
Brig.-Gen. Wm. Heall's brigade, of Maj.-Gen. Tarael Patnam's
division, nnder Crenersl Washiogton at Cambridge; they marched
into Boston upon ite evacuation by the British army in March, 1776,
and remained on duty in the city, until Avz. 8, when they started on
their way for Ticonderoga, arriving Sept. 2, 1776, at Aount Inde-
pendence, opposite Fort Ticonderogn ; here they were in the nigade
of Gen. Ik Arnold, and some of the regiment was in the naval battle
of Oct. 13, on Lake Champlain, between the Dritish and American
fleetz, where several men belooging to the regiment were killed.
Major-Gen. Philip Schuyler commnanded the whole American army
gronud Tieonderoga. The regiment remnined at Mount Independence
antil Nov. 20, when they wora fransferred to Fort Gem'ge, on Lake
George, where they remained until Dee, 851, 1776, when it waos



